

4 (2013)

Changing families and sustainable societies:
Policy contexts and diversity over the life course and across generations

State-of-the-art report Effects of family forms and dynamics on children's well-being and life chances: literature review

Fabrizio Bernardi, Juho Härkönen, and Diederik Boertien, with Linus Andersson Rydell, Kim Bastaits, and Dimitri Mortelmans

© Copyright is held by the authors.





State-of-the-art report

Effects of family forms and dynamics on children's well-being and life chances: literature review

Fabrizio Bernardi¹, Juho Härkönen², and Diederik Boertien¹, with Linus Andersson Rydell², Kim Bastaits³, and Dimitri Mortelmans³

Abstract:

In this report, we review literature on the effects of family forms and dynamics on children's well-being. We focus on European studies, and cover five themes, namely the effects of various family forms (and separation and step-parenthood in particular) on children's life chances, whether the effects are causal, the role of parenting and social relationships, heterogeneity of the effects, and variation in the effects over time and across countries.

Keywords: family forms, separation, life chances, children, Europe

Affiliation:

- 1. European University Institute
- 2. Stockholm University
- 3. Universiteit Antwerpen

Acknowledgement: The research leading to these results has received funding from the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007-2013) under grant agreement no. 320116 for the research project FamiliesAndSocieties.

Contents

1 Introduction	2
2 Family forms, family dynamics, and children's outcomes	
2.1 Divorce and separation	
2.1.1 Demographic outcomes	
2.1.2 Educational attainment and cognitive development	
2.2 Stepfamilies	
•	
3 Causality	
3.1 Sibling models	
3.2 Natural experiment: bereavement vs. separation	
3.3 Longitudinal studies	
3.4 Structural equation models	13
4 Family relationships and parenting	
4.1 Nonresident fathers	
4.2 Joint Custody	
4.3 Relationships with other adults and between siblings	
5 Heterogeneity in effects of family structure	20
5.1 Gender differences	20
5.2 Age at parental separation	21
5.3 Socioeconomic heterogeneity	
5.4 Ethnic heterogeneity	
6 Cross-country and cross-cohort studies	25
6.1 Cross-national studies	26
6.2 Cross-cohort studies	28
7 Conclusion	29
References	31

1 Introduction

This literature review covers recent research on *effects of family forms and dynamics on children's short- and long-term wellbeing*. There is a wide literature on the topic and similar reviews have recently been published both in Europe and the United States (cf., Amato, 2000; 2010; Amato and James, 2010; Garriga and Härkönen, 2009). For this reason, we restrict our review to the following topics, which also cover the main areas of Work Package number 5 within FamiliesAndSocieties:

- 1. The effects of various forms of family configurations on children's life chances, with particular attention being paid to the effects of separation and step-parenthood.
- 2. The more methodological contributions that explicitly try to identify to what extent these effects are causal:
- 3. The role played by parenting and social relationships in mediating these effects;
- 4. The heterogeneity of these effects for different groups of the population
- 5. How these effects vary across countries and periods.

We have structured this review along these five points. We pay particular attention to research from Europe, but also draw on that done in the United States. We start by describing the general findings regarding the correlates of family configurations with child outcomes. Most of the research on the topic in Europe has focused on single parent and step-families that come about through separation and divorce. Consequently, most of this review will follow that lead. Literature from the United States has also focused on child-bearing outside of partnership and marriage. The former is relatively less common in Europe, and the latter has escaped the attention of most researchers so far. American scholars have also been more interested than European ones in differences between children raised by married and cohabiting parents, and differences in the consequences of dissolutions of these families. Because fewer European studies have made this distinction (however, see e.g., Jonsson and Gähler, 1997), we mainly do not separate between married and cohabiting parents (and their separations), while noting the potential for future research on this question. As life chance outcomes, we are particularly interested in effects on education, given its importance in shaping life courses and well-being.

A large body of literature has aimed at uncovering the extent to which observed associations between family structures and children's outcomes are causal or due to selection bias. This will be the second focus of our review. We discuss different innovations in the estimation of effects of family forms and what they suggest regarding the causality underlying the reported associations.

In the third section of this review we concentrate on what could explain the associations between family forms and child outcomes beyond selection bias. Several types of mechanism have been found to contribute to the influence from family structure to children's outcomes, including a loss of financial and other resources and the stress surrounding family transitions (McLanahan and Sandefur, 1994; Amato, 2000; 2010; Garriga and Härkönen, 2009). Here we concentrate on parental involvement and parenting, which can often be affected by changes in family structures, and are among the research objectives of our project.

The fourth and fifth sections of this text focus on possible heterogeneity in the effects of family forms on child outcomes. Depending on individual and societal characteristics, some children might remain unaffected by changes in family structure, while others might respond in a very significant manner to these transitions. Not only does investigating such differences allow us to better judge whom to target possible policy interventions, but it also helps us understand the mechanisms connecting household structure and children's well-being. In the fourth section, heterogeneity by individual characteristics will be discussed, while the fifth section focuses on differences at the macro-level, namely, heterogeneity over time and space.

In the review that follows, we aim to concentrate on the fields of study set by the goals of the work package, as already mentioned. Some fields relevant to the study of family forms in general are therefore left out of consideration. We will mostly remark on this in the corresponding sections. For further reading, we refer to Amato (2000; 2010), Amato and James (2010), Garriga and Härkönen (2009), and Sweeney (2010) among other summary texts.

2 Family forms, family dynamics, and children's outcomes

We start by considering the effects of parental separation and divorce on three children's outcomes, namely, demographic and life course outcomes; educational attainment and

cognitive development; and behavioural outcomes. These are among the most commonly studied outcomes in the literature. Another, which might be particularly relevant for this work package is health (see Amato and James 2010; Strohschein, 2005; Rasmussen, 2009). Subsequently, we move to review studies on the effect of non residential fathers and stepparenthood.

2.1 Divorce and separation

There has been a long interest in the consequences of divorce and separation for adults and children. Common concerns have been related to whether separation as such could be seen as producing lower levels of well-being, how long these effects are likely to last, and which factors contribute to successful adaptation (e.g., Kitson & Raschke, 1981; Price-Bonham & Balswick, 1980). Answers to these questions varied. For example, conclusions concerning divorce and family structure effects on children varied from "harmful" to "weak and temporary" (e.g., Herzog and Sudia, 1973) and again to "potentially important" (Cherlin, 1999; McLanahan & Sandefur, 1994), partly due to access to and use of better data. Among the most commonly studied outcomes among children of divorce are transitions to adulthood and demographic behaviors, educational achievement, cognitive development and behavioral problems. The findings on each of these dependent variables will be reviewed in the next sections.

2.1.1 Demographic outcomes

One of the most studied outcomes is union dissolution of the children of divorce themselves (e.g., Diekmann & Engelhardt, 1995; Dronkers, 1997; Dykstra, 1997; Hullen, 1998; Engelhardt et al., 1999; Kiernan & Cherlin, 1999; Dronkers & Härkönen, 2008; Lyngstad & Engelhardt, 2009). All of these studies find significant effects, covering a wide variety of countries. One group of explanations focuses on other demographic behavior of the offspring. Some studies found a role for age at marriage and for becoming a parent (Engelhardt et al., 1999; Kiernan & Cherlin, 1999), others for pre-marital cohabitation (Diekmann & Engelhardt, 1995; Kiernan & Cherlin, 1999). At the same time, other studies found parental divorce not to be related to these outcomes (Dronkers, 1997; Hullen, 1998). Another explanation could be that those whose parents divorced seem to end up with less attractive partners in terms of socio-economic status (Erola et al., 2012), which itself is a known predictor of divorce and

separation. Other studies have looked into attitudes and expectations. A study from Belgium showed how children of divorce more often expect to experience a divorce in the future (Sodermans et al., 2008). Furthermore, the American literature has increasingly explained the intergenerational transmission of union dissolution with interpersonal skills and socialization patterns into dealing with problems in intimate relationships (Wolfinger, 2005).

Studies concentrating on other life course transitions have found significant differences in the likelihood to move out of the parental home early (Ní Brohlcháin et al., 2000; Jansen, 2001). Regarding partnership formation, the findings are more mixed. One study finds no significant differences in the likelihood to enter a cohabiting union and the duration between leaving the parental home and partnering (Jansen, 2001). Other studies do find differences in the likelihood to partner and parent early in the life course (Ní Brohlcháin et al., 2000; Reneflot, 2011). Reneflot (2011) finds a modest role for educational attainment when explaining the entrance into parenthood.

2.1.2 Educational attainment and cognitive development

Studies that looked at the role of single parenthood in the intergenerational reproduction of inequality often focused on the effects on educational attainment and cognitive development (McLanahan & Percheski, 2008). If parental divorce affects educational attainment of children and is negatively correlated with parental SES, these processes can strengthen the intergenerational transmission of inequality. In the European studies reviewed, parental divorce was related to grade retention (Bosman & Louwes, 1988; Brutsaert, 1998), the kind of track entered in high school (Latten 1984; Dronkers, 1992; Hilmert, 2002; Låftman, 2008), cognitive development (Van Loon et al., 1978; Dronkers, 1992), and educational attainment overall (Van Loon et al., 1978; Bosman & Louwes, 1988; Bosman, 1994; Hilmert, 2002; Fischer, 2007).

A common process looked into is whether the slower cognitive development of children with divorced parents can explain their educational attainment, or whether other variables play a role. If the former is the case, one should focus on cognitive development, and less on educational choices net of performance. Results here are mixed, one Dutch study finding that cognitive development explained educational attainment completely (Bosman & Louwes, 1988), while another study from the same country noted that family structure differences in

teacher advice regarding which high school track to enter were only half explained by cognitive tests (Dronkers, 1992). Educational choices of children and their divorced parents themselves might therefore not be less relevant than behavioural and cognitive development and school grades.

Many studies seeking to explain the effects of family structures and transitions on children's educational outcomes have looked into changes in parental resources, and found them to explain part of these effects (McLanahan and Sandefur, 1994; Thomson, Hanson & McLanahan, 1994; Jonsson & Gähler, 1997; Garriga & Härkönen, 2009). European studies which looked at the role of changes in parenting have found partly contradictory results, some reporting a partly mediated effect of parenting and contrary behavior of children on educational attainment (Bosman, 1994), while another paper found parenting and parental resources to not influence the relationship between parental divorce and child outcomes (Dronkers, 1992).

2.1.3 Behavioural problems

Two European studies looked at behavioural problems of children of divorce during adolescence (see also, Amato and James 2010). Funk's (1996) results showed no differences by family structure in the extent to which children justify violence. Dronkers (1999) showed how parental divorce is related to indicators of well-being such as drug use, illness, violence and crime, depression, and thoughts about suicide. In several cases, children whose parents were still together but had a lot of conflict fared worse than those whose parents broke up but who still had good contact with their fathers. Conflict might therewith be an important mediator of the effect of parental divorce on children's behavior, and this has been a common finding particularly in the American literature (e.g., Amato, 2000).

2.2 Stepfamilies

The division between biological and non-biological families can hide important heterogeneity in the latter group, as these can consist of single parent families, families with step-parents, families with grandparents, and finally, in more complex blended families with both biological and step-children (Halpern-Meekin & Tach, 2008). If having two parents in a household was, per se, the main condition for good child outcomes, reconstituted families

would be equivalent to intact ones. However, studying step-families is of interest by itself since it provides new dimensions to family life where children have to adjust to an outside figure that enters the family (King, 2009; Sweeney, 2010). Studying step-parents can also provide insights into the mechanisms that connect child outcomes and union dissolution of parents.

The addition of an adult to the household can provide extra financial resources and time for monitoring. The presence of a step-parent can, however, also introduce more complex family relationships and conflict. Furthermore, some scholars have argued that it is the number of family transitions that matters, and that stability within a family is an important predictor for child outcomes (Sun & Li, 2009b; Hofferth & Goldscheider, 2010; Magnuson & Berger, 2010). The entrance of a step-parent would mean another period of adjustment for children.

Many studies have looked at the moderating role of the presence of step-fathers in single-mother families. The effects depended on the outcome. When looking at demographic outcomes the presence of a step-parent is in general related to an increased effect on non-standard demographic behavior of children (leaving the parental home earlier, earlier childbearing and entering a cohabiting union rather than marriage) (Ní Brohlcháin et al., 2000; Jansen, 2001; Reneflot, 2011). Especially for girls, outcomes are affected when a step-father enters (Reneflot, 2011). Interestingly, Reneflot (2011) found that remarriage of the biological father was related to a reduced propensity of having a child early and to enter parenthood inside a union. Conflict can be a possible mediator, as those who had a step-parent were most likely to leave the home early due to family conflict (Jansen, 2001). Sodermans et al. (2008), showed how having a step-parent is related to less positive attitudes towards marriage for girls. When moving to other outcomes, effects were generally negative on contact with parents during adulthood (Fokkema et al., 2003; De Graaf & Fokkema, 2007).

Several studies find that children in stepfamilies have worse academic achievement compared to those from intact families and display patterns of well-being closer to single parent families (Bjarnason et al., 2011; Borgers et al., 1996; Breivik & Olweus; Ginther & Pollak, 2004; Gennetian, 2005; Jonsson & Gähler, 1997; Låftman & Östberg 2006; Thomson et al., 1994; Turunen 2013a; 2013b). A meta-analysis by Amato (2001) renders the same conclusions. Sigle-Rushton and others (2009), controlling for SES selection into divorce and subsequent reconstitution, find no evidence for a positive effect of reconstitution on educational

outcomes, compared to single mother households. Some studies argue that children in stepfamilies can fare worse than children of single mothers, due to stress factors. This is found regarding both psychological wellbeing (Kirby, 2006; Sweeney, 2007; Thomson et al., 1994; Tillman, 2007), and educational outcomes (Biblarz & Raftery, 1999). Moreover, as will be discussed below, the effects on academic outcomes can vary for boys and for girls.

There are differences between blended and simple reconstituted families. Stepfamily effects might also work though the contact between step- and half-siblings. Tillman (2008) find that the presence of other children in stepfamilies explains some of the low academic performance scores of this group. Evenhouse and Rielly (2004) find that stepchildren perform worse on cognitive tests than the half-sibling of the same household (who has both biological parents present). Another explanation points to the transitions experienced by the former but not the latter.

However, it has been suggested that good contact with the stepfather can be important for the wellbeing and educational performance of the child (King, 2006). Furthermore, two adult households, including reconstituted families, tend to have more efficient parenting styles (Thomson et al, 1992). Erola and Jalovaara (2012) found that stepfather's SES position was of similar importance as the biological father's SES in intact families, suggesting that stepparents indeed can be important actors for child outcomes.

Finally, studies on the presence of grandparents in non-traditional families have shown how effects of the absence of a father are smaller when grand-parents are living with the family, an important mediator seems to be the resources they bring to the household (Mutchler & Baker, 2009; Monserud & Elder, 2011).

Summing up, the available evidence suggests that family reconstitution does not at least automatically lead to better outcomes for the children involved. Rather, children in step-families show well-being and other outcomes similar, and in some cases worse, to those in single parent households.

3 Causality

A central issue in research on divorce is whether the associations found between family forms and child outcomes are causal or driven by selection or other forms of endogeneity. Families who divorce, re-marry, or have children while cohabiting differ on many characteristics from traditional intact households. It therefore remains unclear whether it is the family transition itself or these other characteristics or processes that drive results. An important question to ask here is what is the appropriate comparison group. For instance, some authors have argued that divorce should be seen as a process, and that it is the trajectory of conflict and insecurity preceding a divorce that might be more relevant for child outcomes (Amato, 2000). In that case one would be interested in child outcomes were the divorce including the process leading up to it not to have occurred. If one is interested in whether the choice of staying together or breaking up has an effect, the counterfactual moves towards the effects of parental separation, net of the process leading up to it.

So far studies have remained surprisingly ambiguous about the exact counterfactual they are addressing. At the same time, research on the effects of family dynamics, and in particular on the effects of union dissolution, has benefited from the development and adoption of new econometric techniques to identify and estimate causal effects from non-experimental data, which those used in divorce research without exception are. These studies include sibling difference methods (e.g., Björklund & Sundström, 2006; Ermisch, Francesconi, & Pevalin, 2004), the comparison between bereavement and divorce, differences-in-differences analysis (e.g., Sanz-de-Galdeano & Vuri, 2007), simultaneous equations estimation (e.g., Steele, Sigle-Rushton, & Kravdal, 2009; Bernardi & Martinez-Pastor 2011), and other advanced techniques. We review each of the techniques separately.

3.1 Sibling models

Sibling fixed effect models have been used in at least two ways. The first is to assess if step-children in stepfamilies are affected more than their half-siblings (the biological children in the same household). This helps tease out the effect of living with a stepparent/in a stepfamily net of the effect of being selected into one by some unobserved characteristic of the parent. Using this approach, Evenhouse and Rielly (2004) report that stepchildren in a mother-stepfather household have lower GPAs, whereas this effect is not found for the "full-biological"-sibling. However, using a comparable approach, Gennetian (2005) find only weak

(negative but insignificant) support for negative effects of being a stepchild. Ginther and Pollak (2004) also find no difference between the step and biological child, both showing a higher risk of not completing high school.

The second way sibling models are used is to assess if children that are exposed to living with parents when their separation occurs are more affected than their older siblings (who may have been exposed to fewer years of parental break up, or already moved out of the parental home). This helps answering the question whether the event of separation and living in a non-intact family is causal to some outcome rather than having been exposed to some unobserved parental characteristics. Björklund and Sundström (2006) found that children who had moved out of the parental home by the time of divorce had equally negative educational outcomes as the younger sibling that lived with the parent at the time of break up. Similarly, Erola and Jalovaara (2012) find only weak support for any causal effect of family structure on child's socioeconomic attainment. This points to selection rather than divorce causation. However, other studies (Ermisch, Francesconi and Pevalin; 2004; Francesconi, Jenkins and Siedler 2010) find that the child being exposed to divorce experience more detrimental effects than his/her older sibling. Similarly, Sandefur and Wells (1999) find that family structure effects on educational attainment stand robust (albeit much smaller) when using sibling fixed effects.

Sibling models have problems with external validity. These models essentially compare children from the same family to one another. Because one of the consequences of family dissolution is a decrease in financial resources, which is experienced in the same way by all children from the family, findings from sibling models may not generalize to all families. Moreover these models critically rely on the assumption that the effect of divorce differs by the length of exposure and exclude families with only one child (Steele, Sigle-Rushton, & Kravdal, 2009). Furthermore, they also rely on the assumption that the older sibling (who is either not regarded as experiencing the divorce due to having moved out of the parental home, or because s/he has otherwise aged out of the observation window) will not experience the divorce—and the potentially long process leading to it—regardless of how close in age the siblings are. These assumptions need to be kept in mind when using and interpreting findings from sibling fixed-effects estimates, which tend to be highly sensitive to correct model specification (Sigle-Rushton et al., forthcoming).

3.2 Natural experiment: bereavement vs. separation

One way of trying to reach correct estimates of the effects of family structure is to categorize and compare divorced non-intact households to those that are caused by death of one parent. If effects stem from the lack of a full two-household family, the two should show no variation in their effects on children's outcomes. Empirical results suggested that bereavement had smaller effects on wellbeing and self-evaluated academic success parental separation in the Netherlands (Borgers et al., 1996), and on educational achievement in the US (Tillman, 2007; Biblarz & Gottainer, 2000) and Hungary (Bukodi & Dronkers, 2003).

This quasi experiment is not without limitations either. The main limitation is that families in which the parent dies can be different from those which dissolve, in which case a comparison between them is not without problems. Furthermore, if the objective is to estimate the effect of a loss of a parent, the comparison between these groups may not be the best one as children of divorce most often continue to have contact with both parents. (McLanahan and Percheski, 2008).

3.3 Longitudinal studies

Other studies have used longitudinal data and repeated measurements to control for characteristics of children and their parents that remain fixed over time. Most of these effects looked at the effects of parental separation on educational outcomes of children. Some studies find a significant reduction or even a disappearance of effects. In an early study, Cherlin et al. (1991) found that the effects of divorce and separation on behavioral problems and test scores were greatly reduced when pre-separation behaviors and test scores were taken into account, and this reduction was particularly visible among boys. Kiernan and Mensah (2009) use longitudinal data to examine family structure impact on early year (3-5) cognitive development. The authors find that control variables (mother qualifications, education and mental health) mediate the cross-sectional difference by family structure except for living with a step parent (negative on learning delay). Using triple-difference methods, Sanz-de-Galdeano and Vuri (2007) control for educational attainment both before and after occurrence of divorce and find no effect of the event as such, supporting a selection explanation. Furstenberg & Kiernan (2001) use a long follow-up to compare children whose parents divorced once they had left the parental home with those who experienced it at various earlier ages. Even those whose parents separated after the child had moved away from the parental

home showed weaker educational performance than those whose parents remained together, suggesting that separated parents differed systematically already before the separation took place.

Other studies, in contrast, find that effects remain also when taking a longitudinal approach. Kim (2011) used a longitudinal sample of young children that allows for measuring the dependent variable before, during (approximately) and some time after the separation. After controlling for factors that remain fixed over time and time trends, the author finds that divorce affects children's math-scores net of post-divorce results. Similarly, Steele and associates (2009) used longitudinal data to account for factors that are invariant across time for Norwegian data, and found that parental separation does lead to lower education attainment particularly when the event occurred around the transition to high school. Liu (2007) also used repeated measures that controlled for parental resources before, during and after divorce. The author finds lasting effects of divorce on highest educational attainment. Finally, Jonsson and Gähler (1997) controlled for socioeconomic correlates of divorce and separation and examined how the parental resources changed following these events. They did not find major selection into divorce and separation, but reported that downward social mobility following family dissolution explained much of its effects on children's educational attainment.

A few studies looked at the effects on health from a longitudinal perspective, and found effects to persist. Rasmussen (2009) used difference-in-difference models to control for unobserved time-constant heterogeneity when assessing divorce effects on health outcomes of Danish children. The authors suggest a causal impact of divorce on hospitalization and general effects of family structure net of selection processes. Strohschein (2005) used growth curve models to control for time-constant child characteristics and observed time varying events. The author looks at changes in family structure on children's mental health in Canada. While divorced families indeed are a select group, the author finds some independent effects of divorce on anxiety and depression.

Longitudinal settings provide an attractive modeling approach as they control for all factors, which remain constant during the observation window. As usual, whether these estimates reflect actual causal effects depends on whether the assumptions behind the model are met. Similar to the sibling fixed effects models, longitudinal models rely on the assumption that the

process leading to parental union dissolution itself does not affect the outcome. This assumption can be (at least to an extent) dealt with by using comparison points long enough in time before the event. Another crucial assumption is that time-varying factors can be sufficiently taken into account in the estimation. These include any shocks or changes in the family environment, which affect both divorce risk and children's outcomes.

3.4 Structural equation models

Hawkins et al., (2007) worked within a SEM framework to model the relationship between fathers' parenting and children's wellbeing outcomes in the US. Taking account both the effects of children's wellbeing on fathers' parenting, and vice versa, they conclude that father's involvement and parenting style is negatively affected by the child's problematic behavior. Similarly, King and Sobolewski (2006) use SEM to establish and verify the relative importance of child's contact with mothers and nonresident fathers in the UK.

3.5 Conclusion

The studies that have explicitly addressed causality in analyses of the effects of family dynamics have led to somewhat conflicting conclusions. Many continue to find that divorce has causal effects, even if they are weaker than the correlations between divorce and outcomes, but other studies have reported that these effects result completely from confounding. Up to date none of the methodological innovations have provided a bullet-proof strategy of assessing causality, but taken together, they can improve the possibilities for drawing conclusions about the effects of family structures and dynamics and child outcomes (see McLanahan, Tach & Schneider 2013). An important question for future research concerns whether differences in the results stem from differences in methods. A systematic comparison of the findings of different methods applied to the same data might prove extremely useful in this respect. Another strategy to gain greater insight into the causal chain connecting family dynamics and child outcomes is to identify the mechanisms that mediate the association. Next, we look into one of these, namely family relations and parenting.

4 Family relationships and parenting

Family dynamics, such as divorce and parental re-partnering, imply a change in family structure. Consequently, several studies have looked at their consequences for relationships

within families. These studies include research on the amount and quality of contact between resident and non-resident parents with their children, and studies on (step)parenting. Since it remains more common that children stay, either full-time or part-time, with the mother after parental separation, these family dynamics have the potential to create inequalities between parents in their access to and relationships with their children, and vice versa (McLanahan and Percheski, 2008). On the other hand, separated parents re-enter the dating market, which may lead to a formation of a step-family. This not only creates a new social relationship between children and a new adult, but can also lead to changes in the relationships between children and their biological parents, and between the parents themselves.

Family dynamics can thus affect family relationships and parenting practices. According to the family process paradigm (Cavanagh, 2008) changes in family status can change family roles and family functioning. The process of family dissolution including transitional period following it can often be chaotic and stressful for parents and their children (Braver, Shapiro, & Goodman, 2006; Hetherington, 1993). This might disturb parenting (Braver et al., 2006).

Time is a necessary condition and resource for parenting. According to parental resource theory (Thomson, Hanson, & McLanahan, 1994), parents provide their children with two key resources: money and time. On the one hand, parents use money to supply their children with the necessary living conditions (food, clothing, shelter, etc). On the other hand, time offers parents the opportunity to demonstrate support and control to their children. Parental separation or divorce is associated with a decline in both parental resources (King & Sobolewski, 2006; McLanahan & Sandefur, 1994; Thomson et al., 1994).

Kendig and Bianchi (2008) find that single mothers spend 10-16 % less time with their children compared to mothers of intact families, but this difference is primarily due to differences in education and in household income. Several studies find that the frequency of contact with fathers and grandparents is lower when parents are divorced (Oppelaar & Dykstra, 2004; Fokkema et al., 2003; De Graaf & Fokkema, 2007; Peters & Ehrenberg, 2008). Joint custody, good inter-parental relations and good early child-father relations led to substantially weaker negative effects on contact with fathers (Peters & Ehrenberg, 2008). The results for mothers are less clear with some studies showing no associations (Fokkema et al., 2003), and others finding worse relationships between mothers and sons only (De Graaf & Fokkema, 2007). Kalmijn (2012) argued and showed for the Netherlands that in most cases

the relationship with the father worsens, but in some cases mothers are less well connected to their children. Above all, inequality between the mother and father increases regarding the relationships with children.

The availability of time and absence of a resident biological father can also affect parenting styles that parents adopt. A widely used schema distinguishes parenting according to the level of control and support the parents exert. This schema identifies authoritative (lot of control and support), authoritarian (high control, low support), permissive (low control, high support), and uninvolved (low control and support) parenting styles (Baumrind, 1991). Of these, authoritative parenting has been found effective for preschool-readiness (Brooks-Gunn & Markman, 2005), teen delinquency, depression and school commitment (Simons & Conger, 2007; Baumrind, 1991; Campana, Henderson, Stolberg & Schum (2008), and self-esteem (Bastaits, Ponnet & Mortelmans, 2012). Reviews generally conclude that high control and high affection are the most effective parenting styles (Marsiglio, Amato, Day, & Lamb, 2000; Hetherington & Stanley-Hagan, 1999; Lansford, 2009).

Previous research has often indicated that parents who are together do more effective parenting than separated parents. Comparative research by Pryor (2004) has shown that single parents are less authoritative than married parents. Longitudinal studies by McLanahan and Sandefur (1994) and by Seltzer (2000) also indicated that parental involvement declines after a parental divorce. Thomson, Mosley, Hanson and McLanahan (2001) find some duality: single mothers supervise their children more (good) but also apply overly-harsh discipline (bad) compared to mothers in reconstituted families. On the other hand, a longitudinal study by Strohschein (2007) did not discover differences in parenting before and after the separation.

Parents often re-enter the partner market after separation or divorce. This might lead to a new cohabitation or marriage. Having a new partner is expected to have a specific influence on parenting. On the one hand, the presence of a new partner in the household might lead to possible role conflict (Adamson & Pasley, 2006; Thomson, Mosley, Hanson, & McLanahan, 2001). Parents living together with a new partner have to divide their time and attention between the new partner (being a partner) and their child (being a parent), which might result in role conflict and lower parental involvement. Previous research (Pryor, 2004) has indicated that adolescents report lower parental support and lower parental control when they have

experienced different family transitions. Henderson and Taylor (1999) found that parents were less controlling and less supportive after they remarried. A study by Thomson et al. (2001) also revealed that children found their mothers to be less supervising after remarrying, and Rodgers and Rose (2002) reported that parental monitoring was less effective in reconstituted families. The suggested explanation is that reconstituted families offer ambiguous boundaries. Longitudinal research by Crawford and Novak (2008) indicated that living in a stepfamily predicted negative later attachment to the parent. On the other hand, the presence of a new partner might be positively related to parenting. They might encourage the parent and take part in raising the children, which might lead to a different division of household and parenting tasks (Hetherington, 2006).

These studies suggest that parenting practices can indeed differ by family type, but cannot conclude that family structure has a causal impact on parenting style. Parenting style can operate as a mediator in explaining some of the family structure effects on child wellbeing. This mediating effect is found in studies including controls for parenting (Crawford & Novak, 2008, Canavaugh, 2008; Amato and Gilberth, 1999).

4.1 Nonresident fathers

The previous section concentrated primarily on the effects of divorce on the parenting styles of the resident parent, mostly the mother. Although most research has focused on mothers, several studies have shown how involvement and the parenting style of the outside member of the family, normally the father, is likewise important for child outcomes (Stamps Mitchell et al., 2009; Swiss & Le Bourdais, 2009; Karre & Mounts, 2012; Choi & Pyun, 2013).

The literature provides mixed results regarding effects of the presence/absence of a nonresident father. In a meta-analysis from the United States, Amato & Gilbreth (1999) showed mixed results; about half the studies indicated that active nonresident fathering had a positive impact on child wellbeing (which included educational measures in 20 of the browsed studies). The other half reported no or negative effects. When positive, fathers authoritative parenting style and feelings of closeness were more important predictors than child support or frequency of contact (Stewart, 2003).

Some studies have compared the parenting styles of separated fathers, who are often the non-residential parent, to fathers not living with the mother of his child. They normally have a less

effective parenting style and provide less support and control than married fathers (Bastaits, Ponnet, & Mortelmans, 2012; Sirvanli Ozen, 2004). King (2006) finds that children in stepfamilies who report being close to their nonresidential father have better school performance but do not have less behavioral problems, once controlling for child contact with the mother and the stepfather.

As mentioned above, not all studies find positive effects of non-resident fathering. Craigie (2008) suggests that father presence can bring about instability, which can have a negative impact on educational outcomes of children of single mothers. On the same note, Laumann-Billings & Emery (2000), using a small scale interview sample, find that distress among children was higher if father contact occurred once a month, compared to both weekly or no contact. Nonresident fathers' contact might thus be a source of instability, if not pursued fully. The same finding was reported using larger data. Menning (2006) finds that very frequent contact with the nonresident father was important for preventing child school drop-out. However, having a medium amount of contact increased likelihood of dropout, compared to none. A study from Norway (Kalil et al. 2011) also found not all contact with the resident father is necessarily good. They found that geographical proximity to the father following parental separation predicted modest negative educational outcomes for the children, and this effect was stronger for highly educated fathers. The authors explained this finding by reference to the stronger conflicts with the mother, and more contact with the child, among highly educated fathers. Children of highly educated fathers residing close to their father may thus be drawn into the conflicts of their separated parents. Nonresident fathers have also been shown to provide less support and to have a less effective parenting style than residing fathers in Belgium (Bastiats, Ponnet & Morlemans, 2012) and in Turkey (Sirvanli Ozen, 2004). On the other hand, King and Sobolewski (2006) find that strong ties to nonresident fathers help to remedy the negative effects of having weak ties to the mother on children's school grades in the UK.

Father's involvement and child outcomes might be interdependent relationships. Hawkins, Amato & King (2007) found that active non-residing father involvement did correlate with child wellbeing and educational attainment, but that active fathering did not predict the wellbeing of children one year later, controlling for wellbeing at the first year. Rather, a *child effect* was suggested; children who display few behavioral problems have a positive impact on

active nonresident fathering. This could have two implications: First, it puts forward children themselves as agents. Second, it represents the causality problem of interdependency.

The main findings of this stream of the literature could then be summarized as follows. First, there seems to be mixed support for the hypothesis of a positive effect of frequency of contact with the nonresidential parent on children's educational and wellbeing. At the same time, some results suggest that financial support does matter. Second, child-nonresidential father contact must be of good quality to have a positive effect on child's wellbeing. Nonresidential parents have been found to provide uninvolved parenting, which has been proven to be an inefficient form of parenting.

Finally, it should be noted that studying nonresident father parenting is challenging, because their parenting style is highly correlated with mothers' parenting style (Simons & Conger 2007), and with mother-child relationship quality (King, & Sobolewski 2006). Father parenting might also be responsive to children's needs and behaviours, which posits another challenge for the identification of the effects of nonresidential fathers parenting.

4.2 Joint Custody

Joint custody agreements and shared parenting are today common post-divorce arrangements in some countries, but relatively rare in others (Bjarnason & Arnarsson, 2011). However, its increasing incidence calls for research on its impacts on children's outcomes. Impacts of joint custody can be explained more or less by the theories that explain the protective function of two-parent households: social capital, financial resources, and effective parenting are arguably better maintained by a resident rather than nonresident parent (Breivik & Olweus, 2006), and by extension also by a custodial father compared to a non-custodial father.

Children of joint custody parents tend to differ in their education and well-being outcomes from children living solely with a single parent (Bender, 1994). Breivik and Olweus (2006) found slightly lower grade point averages among joint custody children compared to intact families and no differences in behavioral adjustment. Similar findings exist for 36 European and North American countries regarding parental contact (Bjarnason & Arnarsson, 2011) and educational performance (Bjarnason et al, 2012). A US meta-analysis reported that children of joint custody display no lower wellbeing compared to children living with both parents with

the exception of academic adjustment (Bauserman, 2002). In a literature review on joint custody in mainly Anglo-saxon countries, Nielsen (2011) summarizes that children in dual residence are better off or do as well as other non-intact family forms.

Bauserman (2002) reports that overall, the literature shows different effect sizes, but that might be because few studies control for parental conflict. Joint custody implies some degree of parental communication, low conflict parents with good communication might be selectively prone to engage in this arrangement (Pryor & Rogers, 2001 p. 210). In the Netherlands, Spruijt and Duindam (2009) find joint custody arrangements to be somewhat more efficient for school grades than other non-intact forms (but not significantly so), but also that joint custody parents had a significantly lower level of pre-divorce conflict. Neoh and Mellor (2010) found few differences in self-reported child wellbeing between single and shared custody arrangements. The most significant difference was found for parents themselves, with joint custodians being overall more satisfied with their arrangement (the latter effect could arguably have positive implications for child's development, regardless of child self-reported wellbeing). As another indicator of selection, Donnelly and Finkelhorn (1993) found high SES urbanities to be especially likely to choose into joint custody (compared to other post-divorce options). Whether this selectivity has changed is a question for future research.

In sum, joint custody agreements tend to be more positive / less detrimental to child wellbeing compared to other post-separation family forms. However, it has been noted that positive selection process into the joint custody is likely to be at play. Future research should accordingly try to address this selection issue and try to estimate the true causal effect of the type of post-separation agreement.

4.3 Relationships with other adults and between siblings

Family structures shape family relationships beyond those between parents and parents and their children. The literature on disadvantaged African-Americans often emphasized the positive roles of other family members, such as grandmothers and uncles (Richardson, 2009). Studies looking at co-residing grandparents have shown that the presence of grand-parents in single-mother families has positive effects on children's outcomes (Mutchler & Baker, 2009; Monserud & Elder, 2011). Siblings can support each other during a period of parental divorce.

An Austrian study showed that relationships between siblings improve after a divorce, especially in those dyads that involve a brother (Geser, 2001). A more recent paper has shown how the presence of siblings and sibling warmth dampens the effect of parental divorce (Waite et al., 2011). One study found smaller effects of parental divorce on educational achievement for bigger families, possibly due to them having less resources to lose (Sun & Li, 2009a), but another study found bigger effects arguably due to many children being too much to handle for a single mother (Dronkers, 1992).

Another important moderator might be extra-curricular activities of children (Martin, 2012). Are children who are engaged in clubs, associations, or extra school activities less affected by a parental divorce? Social selection into such behavior is likely to exist, but little research has looked at the role of these factors. One study found that cross-national variation in the intergenerational transmission of divorce is to some extent explained by levels of female labor force participation (Dronkers & Härkönen, 2008). If institutions other than the family take on more responsibility for child-rearing, family structure effects might be weaker. This is an avenue that future research still needs to explore further.

5 Heterogeneity in effects of family structure

Another way to understand the effects of family dynamics is to look at the heterogeneity of these effects. Is everyone affected equally by a parental separation or step-parenthood? Are some groups unaffected? Some studies have looked into effects by gender and the timing of the family transitions. Much less research has been undertaken on how the effects of parental separation vary by socio-economic or ethnic group. These and some other moderators will be discussed in the following sections.

5.1 Gender differences

Many studies have investigated whether the effects of parental separation vary by gender of the child. Reviews of the American literature drew no clear conclusions (Amato, 2010) and a similar picture emerges from the European literature (Amato & James, 2010). Several studies find no gender differences when looking at educational outcomes (Bosman & Louwes, 1988; Fischer, 2007), demographic behavior (Dronkers, 1997; Jansen, 2001), and contact to grandparents (Oppelaar & Dykstra, 2004).

The most contrasting significant results are found for the intergenerational transmission of divorce. Some studies observed bigger transmission effects for men (Diekmann & Engelhardt, 1995; Kiernan & Cherlin, 1999), while others did so for women whose parents divorced (Hullen, 1998; Lyngstad & Engelhardt, 2009). Ní Brohlcháin et al. (2000) and Reneflot (2011) looked at other demographic outcomes (leaving home early, entry into parenthood, extra-marital births) and found girls to be more affected by parental divorce. Results are also mixed when looking at contact between family members. Sibling dyads that contain a brother are in general closer when parents are divorced, but no effects are observed for sister-sister relationships (Geser, 2001). At the same time, some studies report that divorced mothers have worse relationships to their sons but not with their daughters (De Graaf & Fokkema, 2007).

For two outcomes, significant effects of parental separation were found for boys only. They have more nutrition problems when their parents have separated (Schmitz & Schmidt-Denter, 1999), and they are more likely to retain a grade in elementary school (Brutsaert, 1998). What would gender differences in effects point at? If effects are found for one gender but not for the other, this would move attention away from family variables such as financial resources (or boys should react differently to financial resources than girls). Instead, the absence of a same-sex parent would probably measure the effect of the lack of a role model. It can indeed be expected that role models are especially important when it comes to education and behavioral outcomes. For example, the presence of a step-father affected boys' school performance in a positive manner, but in a negative or non-existent way for girls (Dronkers, 1992).

The results for educational outcomes might point at the importance of role models. Boys will have an additional male figure within the family, while girls might get less attention from their mothers. The relationship between mothers and daughters in general worsens when a step-father enters the family (King, 2009). That step-fathers affect boys and girls differently decreases support for the argument that extra resources brought in can mediate effects of parental divorce.

5.2 Age at parental separation

The age of children at which parents divorce can shape the influence it has on child outcomes. On the one hand, given that the basis for cognitive development is created at pre-school ages (Heckman & Lochner, 2000) one might expect effects to be strongest if parents break up

during that time of childhood. In addition, there might be a cumulative effect of the amount of years that children spent in a non-traditional family structure. For example, if parental resources play a crucial role, the total amount of money invested in children is likely to be lower the longer they spent time in non-traditional households. On the other hand, if the effects of parental divorce on children operate primarily through parental supervision, role modeling and monitoring, it might have the most impact at ages around puberty when parental authority is expected to be most important. A contrary expectation arises when one thinks of observed effects as being entirely due to selection into separation. In that case one would expect effects to be uniform, regardless of the age at which parents divorced. This requires the assumption that selection into divorce does not differ by age at parental divorce.

The findings regarding the age at parental separation generally show that parental separations that occur while children are adults have no or the smallest effects (Kiernan & Cherlin, 1999; Lyngstad & Engelhardt, 2009). If selection into parental separation at later ages has the same characteristics as selection into separation at younger ages, this would imply real effects on children. An exception to this overall picture was the study, which found that the strength of the intergenerational transmission of divorce was present even if the parents separated when the children themselves were adults (Kiernan & Cherlin, 1999). Other studies looking at the transmission effect did find heterogeneity by age of children when parents split up, with the effects being more pronounced the younger children were in one case, and during midchildhood in the other cases (Lyngstad & Engelhardt, 2009; Hullen, 1998). Studies looking at other demographic and educational outcomes also find the effects to be most pronounced when parents divorced during mid-childhood or adolescence. The smallest effects are found when parents divorced during early childhood (Van Loon et al., 1978; Hullen, 1998; Jansen, 2001; Lyngstad & Engelhardt, 2009). The study by Sigle-Rushton and colleagues (forthcoming) pointed to the sensitivity of age-specific estimates to correct model specification within a sibling fixed-effects framework. Overall, in their preferred specification, there was no age-specific trend in the effects.

These findings imply that parental monitoring, role models and disruptions around major life course transitions are important for educational and demographic outcomes. The non-linear effect of age at parental divorce, with effects being smallest during adulthood, followed by early childhood, makes selection a less likely explanation. Selection into parental divorce should be 'worse' during mid-childhood compared to both early childhood and adulthood of

children, were selection to explain all effects of parental divorce found. Also explanations based on investments into children are not supported by these findings, given that children whose parents divorced in early childhood are likely to receive the least investments over the total life course and especially during the most crucial time of child development.

5.3 Socioeconomic heterogeneity

Few studies have looked specifically at variation in consequences of family structure and divorce on children of parents of different socioeconomic background. These studies have tested the hypothesis of a possible compensatory effect which posits that socio-economically advantaged families should be better equipped to buffer their children from the negative consequences in case of separation (Bernardi 2012). On the other hand, recent studies (Erola & Jalovaara, 2012) find that resident partner SES becomes more important in non- intact families, and the effect of the SES of the non-resident partner decreases. In light of increased importance of mother-child SES transfers, family structure changes might become increasingly important, as they seem to shift influence away from the father and onto the mother (Beller, 2009; Erola & Jalovaara, 2012). Children with a high SES father might therewith experience bigger losses in resources than others.

Evidence is mixed in this regard, but tends to support the hypothesis that effects are smaller for lower SES children. Bernardi and Radl (2013) find for 14 countries that children of high social origin may be more negatively affected by divorce than children from lower socioeconomic groups. Similarly, Erola & Jalovaara (2012) find that the higher the father SES, the more the child loses from a divorce, in terms of the intergenerational transfer of SES. In congruence with this perspective Biblarz, Raftery and Buccur (1996) find that non-traditional family forms decrease the likelihood of a son to attain the same profession as his father, also in single-father families.

A second group of studies finds the opposite pattern, namely, bigger effects for those with the least resources (Fischer, 2007). Similar conclusions regarding child's likelihood to enter the professions were made by Lampard (2012). Children of employed mothers resemble children from intact families more than those of unemployed single mothers in terms of educational attainment, suggesting that adversity by lone motherhood is worse for lower socioeconomic groups. Albertini and Dronkers (2009) in a study on Italy and Budoki and Dronkers (2003) in

a study on Hungary find that mothers' education moderates the negative consequences of parental break-up for children's educational attainment.

Botterman et al. (2012) on the other hand, found no interaction effect between family structure and parental SES on children's self-reported school engagement in Belgium.

Regarding the effects of re-marriage Biblarz & Raftery (1999) find that a relative positive effects (when present) of stepparents they find is largely explained by the SES of the stepparent (suggesting heterogeneity in stepfamily effects based on the SES of the stepfather). Also, the authors find that a nontraditional family structure lowers the effect of intergenerational transmission in general, which makes it more detrimental to children of high SES parents.

In sum, contrary to the hypothesis of a possible compensatory effect so that socioeconomically advantaged families should be better equipped to buffer their children from the negative consequences in case of separation, much of the available evidence suggests that parental separation has the largest impact on children from high SES parents. However some studies also find the opposite pattern. Differences in the operationalization of the dependent variable the possibility of a systematic evaluation and comparison of their divergent findings. Further research seems required, therefore, on this topic to test the robustness of the findings, and to replicate it for other outcomes such as occupational status and income, and to investigate its underlying mechanisms.

5.4 Ethnic heterogeneity

Variation in the effect of family structure based on race, ethnicity or country of origin is sparse outside of the US, where literature focuses on differences between Whites, Blacks and Hispanics. Findings indicate that Black children experience weaker effects of non-intact family structure on cognitive and behavioral outcomes (Fomby & Cherlin 2007), the reproduction of family behavior (McLanahan & Bumpass, 1988), and high school drop-our rates (McLanahan and Sandefur, 1994 p. 59). Sun and Li (2007) find no substantial variation between Black, White and Asian Americans in divorce adjustment or response to control variables, but find that Hispanics are overall less affected than are the other three groups. When moving to non-US studies, Dronkers and Kalmijn (2013) suggested a possible interaction effect of ethnicity and family structure on the effects of child's outcomes when

looking at ethnic minorities in 13 European countries. Levels and Dronkers (2008) found significant effects of living in separated families on math scores among ethnic minorities of origin in 13 European countries, also after controlling for country of origin. In the Netherlands, Kalmijn (2010) find that Caribbeans where somewhat less affected in terms of demographic behavior compare to whites, but similar regarding the effect of parental divorce on educational attainment, which is insignificant once controlling for parental education.

In the US literature, two explanations for ethnic variation are proposed. The first one is stigmatization. Ethnic specific norms and generally higher rates of divorce and cohabitation produce more acceptance towards divorce and limit the stigma placed on divorced families, thus reducing stress. For example, Heard (2007) found that Blacks are less likely to be affected by exposure time to single motherhood compared to Whites, but are more affected by family structure change in the short run. He attributes this to the ease of adjustment in a cultural setting where traditional unions are less normative. Second, if financial resources mediate the main effects of family structure, then initial poverty levels will dampen this (spurious) effect of dissolution. For example, the higher the intact family fathers' likelihood of unemployment, the lower the actual loss of resources in the event of divorce. Social resources might also be more tied to the mother than the father within certain ethnic groups, making them less affected by divorce (Kalmijn, 2010). King, Harris and Heard (2004) conclude that White children with low-educated fathers suffer the largest loss of social capital due to household father absence. The authors suggest this is because the variation between high and low-educated white fathers' involvement is larger than among fathers of other ethnic groups.

Again, selection patterns into dissolution may differ among ethnic groups too. For example, in the US, Lichter, Qian and Crowley (2005) find that East Asian single mothers do not differ in poverty levels from intact families, suggesting that the overall pattern of child wellbeing correlates may differ among ethnic groups.

6 Cross-country and cross-cohort studies

An overview of European research would be especially valuable if it could highlight differences between countries in order to uncover the effects of macro-variables. If social acceptance of non-traditional family forms and financial resources are crucial, one would expect considerable cross-national variation in family structure effects. Countries differ considerably in the financial consequences family structure has for families as well as in the commonality of these different family forms (Kalmijn et al., 2007). Only few studies have taken an explicitly cross-national perspective. Most of them have focused on single parenthood and parental separation.

Another way to look at the effect of societal context is to look at change over time. If acceptance of non-traditional families and selection into them play a role, one would expect changes over time as these families become more common.

6.1 Cross-national studies

Several studies on international variation in the effects of parental separation found surprisingly little variation on demographic and educational outcomes. One study looked at the intergenerational transmission of divorce in 17 countries and found surprisingly small cross-country differences (Dronkers & Härkönen, 2008). The only macro-variables that explain the existing variation between countries are the divorce rate and the level of female labor force participation in each country. The rationale for the latter is arguably a smaller effect of family variables in societies where responsibilities of child-rearing are to a larger extent taken on by non-family institutions. They found no role for welfare spending, divorce laws, attitudes towards divorce and life course outcomes. Another study, also looking at the intergenerational transmission of divorce did find cross-national variation. Engelhardt et al. (1999) compared East to West Germany and concluded that while the risk of divorce for children whose parents broke up is higher compared to those from intact families in both countries, the transmission is smaller in East Germany due to higher levels of divorce overall (Engelhardt et al., 1999). The proposed explanation was that due to earlier ages at marriage and parenthood in East Germany, these demographic outcomes, related in both countries to divorce, are less affected by parental divorce in East Germany.

Ely and colleagues (2000) founnd no significant differences when comparing Scotland and England in terms of family structure effects on children's educational outcomes. Testing a similar hypothesis, Albertini and Dronkers (2009) found no differences in the effect of divorce on children's educational attainment between Italian regions of different religiousness and stigma towards divorce. One recent study looked at cross-national variation in the effects

of union dissolution on school performance of children using PISA data for 18 countries (Hampden-Thomson, 2013). Again, macro-level factors had a limited effect. At the same time, it was found that in countries where policies favor low-income single-parent families, the gap between children with divorced parents and those with intact families is smaller. A policy environment that favors average-income families augments the performance of all children but the gap between single parent's children and others widens.

Other studies did find considerable cross-country variation in the effects of family forms on educational outcomes. Hypothesizing that the degree of tolerance toward divorce and crude divorce rates might impact its effects on children, Kreidl (2013) found that living outside a two-parent household has more adverse effects on child educational attainment in countries where the (cohort specific) divorce rate are high. In another study, Hampden-Thompson (2009) compared the effect of single-motherhood in 16 European and North American countries. While initially the relationship was significant in most countries, once controlling for parental involvement and economic conditions of the household, only a few countries show significant negative effects of single motherhood on failing in reading understanding. Interestingly, there were substantial differences between countries in the mediating effects of parental involvement and economic conditions (which are hard to explain).

In another cross-nationally comparative European study, De Lange et al (2009) find that countries with generous child-care policies reduce the adverse effects of single motherhood on child educational scores. However, countries with generally large social insurance schemes had no or sometimes negative effects on non-intact children's test scores. Using a different set of countries, similar findings were made by Pong et al. (2003) for math and science scores. Bjarnason et al. (2012) found substantial degrees of between country-variation in the effects of family structure on life satisfaction, but no interaction with country level inequality and life satisfaction. The authors suggest that "economic deprivation relative to others affects children on a personal level that has little to do with societal-level poverty or inequality".

Houseknecht and Sastry (1996) compare child wellbeing and educational performance in West-Germany, US, Sweden and Italy by ranking them according to a "traditional family decline" index. They find that Italy indeed has the highest child wellbeing and the lowest "family decline". However, Sweden has the highest family decline, and scored just after Italy, suggesting a more complex picture regarding macro-level factors.

6.2 Cross-cohort studies

Similarly to theory on cross-national differences, the main arguments for differences among cohorts are stigma and law (Lansford, 2009). The level of father involvement has increased across cohorts too, arguably changing the resources children of divorce may draw upon (Amato, Meyers & Emery 2009).

Literature reviews from the United States find among their sample of studies that effect sizes declined from the 1960s to the 1980s (Amato and Keith, 1991; studies post 1960), but increased again during the 1990's (Amato, 2001). More recent reviews concluded that in the last two decades effects have remained stable over time (Amato, 2000; 2010). Several European studies found similar stability. Dronkers and Härkönen (2008) found no significant linear differences between cohorts in the intergenerational transmission of divorce, and the same holds for the German and Dutch studies of Diekmann & Engelhardt (1995), Dronkers (1997), and Engelhardt et al. (1999). In Britain, no changes are found across the year 1946-1970 regarding the relationship between family structure and child's educational outcomes (Ely et al, 1999; Sigle-Rushton et al, 2005). Similarly, Biblarz and Raftery (1999) found no significant cohort effects in the US, neither does Deding and Hussain (2002) for Denmark (the latter only browsing 1963-73). Gähler and Garriga (2013) found weak signs of cross-cohort change in children's psychological adjustment to divorce in Sweden, but these results were not significant.

In contrast to most expectations, some studies have found increased effects of divorce over time. One study looked at cohort differences in the effects on educational outcomes and observed that effects of parents' union dissolution increased (Dronkers, 1992). Dronkers (1994) also found an increased impact of living in a single mother home for children's education between 1970's and 1980s, and suggests that the decline of welfare might be an explanation. Kreidl (2013), looking at several European countries, finds that living outside a two-parent household had more adverse effects on children's educational attainment for cohorts (and countries) with high divorce rates. The author concluded that the ease of divorcing led to an increasing number of low-conflict marriages ending in divorce (cf. De Graaf and Kalmijn, 2006). Children who experience such a divorce are likely to experience more negative consequences (Amato, 2000). Bukodi and Dronkers (2003) investigated generational differences in the effect of family structure on children's educational attainment,

providing some (but not decisive) support that the less religious communist regime cohorts in Hungary were less adversely affected by divorce, but differences were very small.

The overall impression from research on variation across countries and time is that effects are relatively constant. Contextual variables such as welfare policies and social acceptance are therefore expected to play a limited role for the link between parental divorce and child outcomes. Instead, effects that are relatively invariant over countries should be studied more: the reduction in parental monitoring, family stability, and the signals parental divorce might give to children when they form their values and norms about family life. This fits with the finding that levels of female employment determine cross-national variation and reflect the extent to which monitoring is done by parents or institutions outside of the family (Dronkers & Härkönen, 2008).

7 Conclusion

When looking at the overall trends of this review we can conclude that family forms are related to demographic, cognitive, educational and behavioral outcomes of children. Almost all studies show that both living in a single parent family as well as a step-family is correlated with negative outcomes. Other coherent findings have been that the changes in parenting and family relations related to family dynamics are important in understanding the association between family forms and child outcomes. But non-resident father involvement might only be effective if fathers are very committed.

Relatively stable findings are also found when looking at variation across ethnic groups with minorities being affected to a lesser extent than others. Regarding change over time in the effects of parental divorce, studies find no or a worsening change in the effects of parental divorce.

This is where the coherent findings end. Many of the topics addressed and hypotheses examined in the studies reviewed led to inconclusive and often contrasting results. Some studies find boys to be more affected but others girls, the results for heterogeneity by socioeconomic resources go in opposite directions, and above all studies looking at selection effects and other forms of endogeneity do not manage to conclude that causal effects exist of

family forms on child outcomes, but cannot confirm selection as a complete explanation either.

A very plausible cause of these inconclusive results might have to do with another general observation that can be made from the literature. Substantial heterogeneity exists in the effects of family forms on child outcomes. If such forms of heterogeneity are not well understood and taken into account, results from varying samples and contexts are likely to lead to different results. This might especially be the case for studies focusing on the causal effects of divorce. Searching for a source of variation that is uncorrelated with other characteristics often leads to the study of very specific samples (examples are sibling models where the sample is restricted to certain types of (step)families). The problems of external validity these studies have are especially problematic if heterogeneity in effects of family forms is substantial. The likelihood that results can be generalized to groups beyond the select sample studied is in that case substantially smaller.

A first step for future research would therefore be to come to a thorough understanding of how individuals are differently affected by family forms and dynamics, and how this differs across societies. More focused causal approaches are in that case likely to provide more coherent results. To proceed in finding important sources of heterogeneity, focusing on family relations and parenting seems like a fruitful avenue for future research. One conclusion that persists across studies is that family relations and parenting matter for the connection between family forms and child outcomes. Studying heterogeneity in effects by such practices and family relations can be a first valuable source of information.

References

- Adamson, K., & Pasley, K. (2006). Coparenting following divorce and relationship dissolution. In M. A. Fine & J. H. Harvey (Eds.), *Handbook of divorce and relationship dissolution*. (pp. 241-261). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Albertini, M., & Dronkers, J. (2009). Effects of divorce on children's educational attainment in a mediterranean and catholic society. *European Societies*, 11(1), 137-159. doi:10.1080/14616690802248042
- Amato, P.R., (2000). The consequences of divorce for adults and children. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 62, 1269-1287.
- Amato, P.R., (2010). Research on divorce: Continuing trends and new developments. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 72, 650-666.
- Amato, P. R. (2001). Children of divorce in the 1990s: An update of the Amato and Keith (1991) meta-analysis. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 15(3), 355-370. doi:10.1037/0893-3200.15.3.355
- Amato, P. R., & Gilbreth, J. G. (1999). Nonresident fathers and children's well-being: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 61(3), 557-573.
- Amato, P.R. & James, S. (2010). Divorce in Europe and the United States: Commonalities and differences across nations. *Family Science*, 1, 2-13.
- Amato, P. R., & Keith, B. (1991). Parental divorce and the well-being of children: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *110*(1), 26-46. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.110.1.26
- Amato, P. R., Meyers, C. E., & Emery, R. E. (2009). Changes in nonresident father-child contact from 1976 to 2002. *Family Relations*, 58(1), 41-53. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3729.2008.00533.x
- Bastaits, K., Ponnet, K., & Mortelmans, D. (2012). Parenting of divorced fathers and the association with Children's self-esteem. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 41(12), 1643-1656. doi:10.1007/s10964-012-9783-6
- Baumrind, D. (1991). The influence of parenting style on adolescent competence and substance use. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 11(1), 56-95. doi:10.1177/0272431691111004
- Bauserman, R. (2002). Child adjustment in joint-custody versus sole-custody arrangements: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 16(1), 91-102.
- Beller, E. (2009). Bringing intergenerational social mobility research into the twenty-first century: Why mothers matter. *American Sociological Review*, 74(4), 507-528. doi:10.1177/000312240907400401
- Bender, W. N. (1994). Joint custody. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 21(3-4), 115-132. doi:10.1300/J087v21n03_06
- Bernardi, F. (2012). Unequal transitions: Selection bias and the compensatory effect of social background in educational careers. *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility*, *30*, 159-74.
- Bernardi, F. & Martínez-Pastor, J.I (2011), Female education and marriage dissolution: is it a selection effect?, *European Sociological Review*, 26(6), 693-707.

- Bernardi, F., & Radl, J. (2013). Parental separation, social origin and educational attainment: the long-term consequences of divorce for children. *Unpublished Manuscript*,
- Biblarz, T. J., & Gottainer, G. (2000). Family structure and children's success: A comparison of widowed and divorced single-mother families. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 62(2), 533-548. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2000.00533.x
- Biblarz, T. J., & Raftery, A. E. (1999). Family structure, educational attainment, and socioeconomic success: Rethinking the "pathology of matriarchy". *American Journal of Sociology*, 105(2), 321-365.
- Biblarz, T. J., Raftery, A. E., & Bucur, A. (1997). Family structure and social mobility. *Social Forces*, 75(4), 1319-1341. doi:10.1093/sf/75.4.1319
- Bjarnason, T., & Arnarsson, A. M. (2011). Joint physical custody and communication with parents: A cross-national study of children in 36 western countries. *Journal of Comparative Family Studies*, 42(6), 871-890.
- Bjarnason, T., Bendtsen, P., Arnarsson, A. M., Borup, I., Iannotti, R. J., Löfstedt, P., Niclasen, B. (2012). Life satisfaction among children in different family structures: A comparative study of 36 western societies. *Children & Society*, 26(1), 51-62. doi:10.1111/j.1099-0860.2010.00324.x
- Björklund, A., & Sundström, M. (2006). Parental separation and children's educational attainment: A siblings analysis on swedish register data. *Economica*, 73(292), 605-624. doi:10.1111/j.1468-0335.2006.00529.x
- Borgers, N., Dronkers, J., & Praag, B. S. (1996). The effects of different forms of two- and single-parent families on the well-being of their children in dutch secondary education. *Social Psychology of Education*, 1(2), 147-169. doi:10.1007/BF02334730
- Bosman, R., Louwes, W., (1988). School careers of children from one-parent and two-parent families. *Mens en Maatschappij*, 63, 5-23.
- Bosman, R., (1994). Educational attainment of children in mother-headed families: the impact of socialization. *The Netherlands Journal of Social Sciences*.
- Botterman, Sarah Havermans, Nele Matthijs, Koen. (2012). The influence of parental separation and family resources on youngsters' school engagement. Paper presented at the European Population Conference, Stockholm, 13-16 June 2012.
- Bowman, M. E., & Ahrons, C. R. (1985). Impact of legal custody status on fathers' parenting postdivorce. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 47(2), 481-488.
- Braver, S. L., Shapiro, J. R., & Goodman, M. R. (2006). Consequences of divorce for parents. In M. A. Fine & H. J.H. (Eds.), *Handbook of divorce and relationship dissolution*. (pp. 313-338). Londen: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Breivik, K., & Olweus, D. (2006). Adolescent's adjustment in four post-divorce family structures. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 44(3-4), 99-124. doi:10.1300/J087v44n03_07
- Brooks-Gunn, J., & Markman, L. (2005). The contribution of parenting to ethnic and racial gaps in school readiness. *The Future of Children, 15*(1139) doi:DOI: 10.1353/foc.2005.0001
- Brutsaert, H., (1998). Risicofactor bij het oplopen van schoolachterstand in het basisonderwijs: gezinsstructuur en schoolcontext (Risk for grade retention in elementary school: family structure and schoolcontext). *Bevolking en Gezin*, 27, 119-130.

- Bukodi, E., & Dronkers, J. (2003). Family structure and educational attainment in hungary. Paper Presented at the Second Conference of the European Network for Empirical and Comparative Research on the Sociological Aspects of Divorce, Tilburg (Netherlands), November 13-16, 2003.,
- Campana, K. L., Henderson, S., Stolberg, A. L., & Schum, L. (2008). Paired maternal and paternal parenting styles, child custody and children's emotional adjustment to divorce. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 48(3-4), 1-20. doi:10.1300/J087v48n03_01
- Cavanagh, S. E. (2008). Family structure history and adolescent adjustment. *Journal of Family Issues*, 29(7), 944-980.
- Cherlin., A.J. (1999). "Going to Extremes: Family Structure, Children's Well-Being, and Social Science." *Demography* 36: 421-428.
- Cherlin, A.J., Frank F. Furstenberg, Jr., P. Lindsay Chase-Lansdale, Kathleen E. Kiernan, Philip K. Robins, Donna Ruane Morrison, and Julien O. Teitler. (1991). Longitudinal Studies of Effects of Divorce on Children in Great Britain and the United States, *Science* 252 (June 7), 1386-89.
- Choi, J., & Pyun, H., (2013). Nonresident fathers' financial support, informal instrumental support, mothers' parenting, and child development in single-mother families with low income. *Journal Family Issues*, 20, 1-21.
- Craigie, T. (2008). Effects of paternal presence and family instability on child cognitive performance. *Center for Research on Child Wellbeing Working Paper 2008-03-FF*,
- Crawford, L. A., & Novak, K. B. (2008). Parent–Child relations and peer associations as mediators of the family Structure–Substance use relationship. *Journal of Family Issues*, 29(2), 155-184. doi:10.1177/0192513X07304461
- De Graaf, P. M. & Kalmijn, M. 2006. Divorce motives in a period of rising divorce: Evidence from a Dutch life-history survey. *Journal of Family Issues* 27(4): 483-505.
- De Lange, M., Dronkers, J., & Wolbers, M. (2009) Family forms and Children's educational performance in a cross-comparative perspective: Effects of School's resources and family policies of modern societies. Paper presented at the Dutch-Fleming Meeting of Sociology 2009, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, 11 June 2009.
- Deding, M., & Hussain, M. (2002). Children's educational attainment. Effects of parent's education, living conditions and other background factors. *Working Paper 27: 2002. the Danish National Institute of Social Research*.
- De Graaf, P.M., & Kalmijn, M., (2003). Alternative routes in the remarriage market: Competing-risk analyses of union formation after divorce. *Social Forces*, 81, 1459-1498.
- Diekmann, A., & Engelhardt, H., (1995). Die Soziale Vererbung Scheidungsrisikos: Eine empirische Untersuchung der Transmissionshypothese mit dem Deutschen Familiensurvey (The social inheritance of divorce-risks: An empirical study of the transmission-hypothesis with the german family-survey). Zeitschrift für Soziologie, 24, 215-228
- Donnelly, D., & Finkelhorn, D. (1993). Who has joint custody? class differences in the determination of custody arrangements. *Family Relations*, 42(1), 57-60.
- Dronkers, J., (1992). Zullen wij voor de kinderen bij elkaar blijven? De veranderende effecten van eenoudergezinnen op de schoolloopbanen van de kinderen (Shall we stay together because of the children? The changing effects of one-parent families on the educational attainment of their children). *Mens en Maatschappij*, 67, 23-44.

- Dronkers, J. (1994). The changing effects of lone parent families on the educational attainment of their children in a european welfare state. *Sociology*, 28(1), 171-191. doi:10.1177/0038038594028001011
- Dronkers, J., (1997). Zoals de ouden zongen, piepen de jongen: Intergenerationele overdracht van de kans op scheiding in Nederland (The young pig grunts like the old sow; intergenerational transmission of divorce in the Netherlands). *Mens en Maatschappij*, 72, 149-165.
- Dronkers, J., (1999). The effect of parental conflicts and divorce on the well-being of pupils in Dutch secondary education. *European Sociological Review*, *15*, 195-212.
- Dronkers, J., & Härkönen, J., (2008). The inter-generational transmission of divorce in cross-national perspective: Results from the Fertility and Family Surveys. *Population Studies*, 63, 173-185.
- Dronkers, J., & Kalmijn, M. (2013). Single-parenthood among migrant children:

 Determinants and consequences for educational performance. Unpublished manuscript.
- Dykstra, P., (1997). Effects of divorce on intergenerational exchanges in families. *The Netherlands Journal of Social Sciences*.
- Ely, M., Richards, M.P.M., Wadsworth, M.E.J., & Elliott, B.J. (1999). Secular changes in the association of parental divorce and children's educational attainment evidence from three British birth cohorts. *Journal of Social Policy*, 28(03), 437.
- Ely, M., West, P., Sweeting, H., & Richards, M. (2000). Teenage family life, life chances, lifestyles and health: A comparison of two contemporary cohorts. *International Journal of Law, Policy and the Family, 14*(1), 1-30. doi:10.1093/lawfam/14.1.1
- Engelhardt, H., Trappe, H., & Dronkers, J., (1999). Verschilt de intergenerationale overdracht van echtscheidingsrisico's tussen samenlevingen? Een vergelijking tussen de Bondsrepubliek en de DDR (Does the intergenerational transmission of divorce differ between societies? A comparison between the German Federal Republic and the German Democratic Republic). *Mens en Maatschappij*, 74, 360-379.
- Ermisch, J., Francesconi, M., & Pevalin, D. J. (2004). Parental partnership and joblessness in childhood and their influence on young people's outcomes. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series A (Statistics in Society)*, 167(1), 69-101. doi:10.1111/j.1467-985X.2004.00292.x
- Erola, J., Härkönen, J., & Dronkers, J., (2012). More careful or less marriageable? Parental divorce spouse selection and entry into marriage. *Social Forces*, *90*, 1323-1345.
- Erola, J., & Jalovaara, M., (2012). The replaceable: The inheritance of paternal and maternal class in non-standard families. *Presented at RC28 Summer Meeting 2012, August 13-15 2012, University of Virginia, Charlottesville.*,
- Evenhouse, E., & Reilly, S. (2004). A sibling study of stepchild well-being. *The Journal of Human Resources*, 39(1), 248-276.
- Fischer, T., (2007). Parental Divorce and Children's Socio-Economic Success: Conditional Effects of Parental Resources Prior to Divorce, and Gender of the Child. *Sociology*, *41*, 475-495.
- Fokkema, T., Ruijter, E. de, & Maas, J., (2003). Contacten tussen ouders en hun volwassen, uitwonende kinderen (Contact between parents and their adult, nonresident children). *Bevolking en Gezin*, 32, 25-54.

- Fomby, P. & Cherlin, A.J. (2007). Family instability and child well-being. *American Sociological Review*, 72, 181–204.
- Fomby, P., & Osborne, C. (2010). The influence of union instability and union quality on children's aggressive behavior. *Social Science Research*, *39*(6), 912-924. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2010.02.006
- Francesconi, M. (2008). Adult outcomes for children of teenage mothers. *Scandinavian Journal of Economics*, 110(1), 93-117. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9442.2008.00526.x
- Francesconi, M., Jenkins, S. P., & Siedler, T. (2010). Childhood family structure and schooling outcomes: Evidence for germany. *Journal of Population Economics*, 23(3), 1073-1103. doi:10.1007/s00148-009-0242-y
- Funk, W., (1996). Familien-und Haushaltskontext als Determinanten der Gewalt an Schulen: Ergebnisse der Nürnberger Schüler Studie 1994. Zeitschrift für Familienforschung, 8, 5-45.
- Furstenberg, F. F., & Kiernan, K. E. (2001). Delayed parental divorce: How much do children benefit? *Journal of Marriage and Family*, *63*(2), 446-457. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2001.00446.x
- Garriga, A. & Härkönen, J. (2009). The effects of marital instability on children's well-being and intergenerational relations. EQUALSOC State-of-the-art report. Pompeu Fabra University and Stockholm University.
- Gähler, M., & Garriga, A. (2013). Has the association between parental divorce and young adults' psychological problems changed over time? evidence from sweden, 1968-2000. *Journal of Family Issues*, 34(6), 784-808. doi:10.1177/0192513X12447177
- Gennetian, L. (2005). One or two parents? half or step siblings? the effect of family structure on young children's achievement. *Journal of Population Economics*, 18(3), 415-436. doi:10.1007/s00148-004-0215-0
- Geser, W., (2001). Geschwisterbeziehungen junger Erwachsener aus Scheidungsfamilien (Sibling-relationships of young adults from divorced families). *Zeitschrift für Familienforschung*, 13, 23-44.
- Ginther, D., & Pollak, R. (2004). Family structure and children's educational outcomes: Blended families, stylized facts, and descriptive regressions. *Demography*, 41(4), 671-696. doi:10.1353/dem.2004.0031
- Halpern-Meekin, S., & Tach, L. (2008). Heterogeneity in two-parent families and adolescent well-being. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 70(2), 435-451. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2008.00492.x
- Hampden-Thompson, G. (2009). Are two better than one? A comparative study of achievement gaps and family structure. *Compare: A Journal of Comparative and International Education*, 39(4), 517-534.
- doi:10.1080/03057920802366372
- Hampden-Thompson, G., (2013). Family policy, family structure, and children's educational achievement. *Social Science Research*, 42, 804-817.
- Hawkins, D. N., Amato, P. R., & King, V. (2007). Nonresident father involvement and adolescent well-being: Father effects or child effects? *American Sociological Review*, 72(6), 990-1010. doi:10.1177/000312240707200607

- Heard, H. E. (2007). The family structure trajectory and adolescent school performance: Differential effects by race and ethnicity. *Journal of Family Issues*, 28(3), 319-354. doi:10.1177/0192513X06296307
- Heckman, J., & Lochner., L., (2000). Rethinking education and training policy. in Sheldon Danziger and Jane Waldfogel, eds. Securing the Future. New York: Russell Sage.
- Henderson, S. H., & Taylor, L. C. (1999). Chapter IV. parent-adolescent relationships in nonstep-, simple step-, qnd complex stepfamilies. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 64(4), 79-100. doi:10.1111/1540-5834.00048
- Henretta, J.C., Wolf, D.A., Van Voorhis, M.F., & Soldo, B.J., (2012). Family structure and the reproducation of inequality: Parents' contribution to children's college costs. *Social Science Research*, *41*, 876-887.
- Henretta, J.C., Van Voorhis, M.F., & Soldo, B.J., (2013). Parental money help to children and stepchildren. *Journal of Family Issues*, 20, 1-23.
- Herzog, E., & Sudia, C., (1973). Children in fatherless homes. In B. Caldwell and H. Ricciuti (Fds.), *Review of Child Development Research*, *Volume* 3. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, pp. 141-232.
- Hetherington, E. M. (1993). An overview of the Virginia longitudinal study of divorce and remarriage with a focus on early adolescence. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 7, 1-18.
- Hetherington, E. M. (2006). The influence of conflict, marital problem solving and parenting on children's adjustment in nondivorced, divorced and remarried families. In A. Clarke-Stewart & J. Dunn (Eds.), *Families count. Effects on child and adolescent development.* (pp. 203-237). Cambridge, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Hetherington, E. M., & Stanley-Hagan, M. (1999). The adjustment of children with divorced parents: A risk and resiliency perspective. *Journal of Child Psychology & Psychiatry & Allied Disciplines*, 40(1), 129.
- Hilmert, S., (2002). Familiale Resourcen und Bildungschancen: Konsequenzen eines frühzeitigen Elternverlustes (Family Resources and Educational Opportunities: Consequences of Early Loss of Parents). *Zeitschrift für Familienforschung*, 14, 44-69.
- Hofferth, S.L., & Goldscheider, F., (2010). Family structure and the transition to early parenthood. *Demography*, 47, 415-437.
- Houseknecht, S.K. & Sastry, J. (1996). Family "decline" and child well-being: A comparative assessment. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 58(3), 726-739.
- Hullen, G., (1998). Scheidungskinder oder: Die Transmission des Scheidungsrisikos (Divorce-children or: the transmission of divorce-risks). *Zeitschrift für Bevölkerungswissenschaft*, 23, 19-38.
- Jansen, M., (2001). Children of divorced parents: differential consequences of demographic behavior. *The Netherlands Journal of Social Sciences*, *37*, 169-184.
- Jonsson, J., & Gähler, M. (1997). Family dissolution, family reconstitution, and children's educational careers: Recent evidence for sweden. *Demography*, *34*(2), 277-293. doi:10.2307/2061705
- Kalil, A., Mostad, M., Rege, M. & Votruba, M. 2011. Divorced fathers' proximity and children's long-run outcomes: Evidence from Norway. *Demography*, 48, 1005-27.

- Kalmijn, M. (2010). Racial differences in the effects of parental divorce and separation on children: Generalizing the evidence to a european case. *Social Science Research*, 39(5), 845-856. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2010.05.002
- Kalmijn, M., (2012). Long-term effects of divorce on parent-child relationships: within-family comparisons of fathers and mothers. *European Sociological Review, advance access*.
- Kalmijn, M., Loeve, A. & Manting, D., (2007). Income dynamics in couples and the dissolution of marriage and cohabitation. *Demography*, 44, 159 179.
- Karre, J.K., & Mounts, N.S., (2012). Nonresident fathers' parenting style and the adjustment of late-adolescent boys. Journal of Family Issues, 33, 1642-1657.
- Kendig, S.M., & Bianchi, S.M. (2008). Single, Cohabitating, and Married Mothers' Time With Children. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 70, 1228–1240.
- Kiernan, K.E., & Cherlin, J.A., (1999). Parental divorce and partnership dissolution in adulthood: Evidence from a British cohort study. *Population Studies*, *53*, 39-48.
- Kiernan, K. E., & Mensah, F. K. (2009). Poverty, maternal depression, family status and children's cognitive and behavioural development in early childhood: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Social Policy*, *38*(04), 569. doi:10.1017/S0047279409003250
- Kim, H. S. (2011). Consequences of parental divorce for child development. *American Sociological Review*, 76(3), 487-511. doi:10.1177/0003122411407748
- King, V. (2006). The antecedents and consequences of adolescents' relationships with stepfathers and nonresident fathers. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 68(4), 910-928.
- King, V., (2009). Stepfamily formation: implications for adolescent ties to mothers, nonresident fathers and stepfathers. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 71, 954-968.
- King, V., Harris, K. M., & Heard, H. E. (2004). Racial and ethnic diversity in nonresident father involvement. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 66(1), 1-21.
- King, V., & Sobolewski, J. M. (2006). Nonresident fathers' contributions to adolescent wellbeing. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 68(3), 537-557.
- Kirby, J. B. (2006). From single-parent families to stepfamilies: Is the transition associated with adolescent alcohol initiation? *Journal of Family Issues*, 27(5), 685-711. doi:10.1177/0192513X05284855
- Kitson, G. C. & Raschke, H. J., (1981). Divorce research: what we know; what we need to know. *Journal of Divorce 4(Spring)*, 1-37.
- Kreidl, M., (2013). A cross-national comparison of the negative effect of parental separation on offspring's education. Department of Social and Political Sciences Working Paper 01/2013.
- Låftman, S.B., (2008). Parent presence and gender-typicalness of educational choice. *British Journal of Sociology*, *59*, 757-82.
- Lampard, R. (2012). Parental characteristics, family structure and occupational attainment in britain. *Sociology*, 46(6), 1020-1038. doi:10.1177/0038038511435062
- Lansford, J. E. (2009). Parental divorce and children's adjustment. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 4(2), 140-152. doi:10.1111/j.1745-6924.2009.01114.x

- Latten, J.J., (1984). Jongeren in éénoudergezinnen (Young people in single-parent families). *Bevolking en Gezin, 11,* 25-41.
- Laumann-Billings, L., & Emery, R. E. (2000). Distress among young adults from divorced families. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *14*(4), 671-687.
- Levels, M., & Dronkers, J. (2008). Educational performance of native and immigrant children from various countries of origin. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, *31*(8), 1404-1425. doi:10.1080/01419870701682238
- Lichter, D. T., Qian, Z., & Crowley, M. L. (2005). Child poverty among racial minorities and immigrants: Explaining trends and differentials. *Social Science Quarterly*, *86*, 1037-1059. doi:10.1111/j.0038-4941.2005.00335.x
- Liu, S. (2007). The effect parental divorce and its timing on child educational attainment: A dynamic approach. *Department of Economics, University of Miami*.
- Loon, F. van, Levin, M.L., & Spitler, H.D., (1978). Het effect van de afwezigheid van de vader op de intellectuele ontwikelling en het schoolprestatieniveau van de kinderen (The effect of the absence of the father on the intellectual development and school performance levels of children). *Bevolking en Gezin*, *8*, 71-90.
- López Turley, R.N., & Desmond, M., (2011). Contributions to college costs by married, divorced, and remarried parents. *Journal of Family Issues*, *32*, 767-790.
- Lyngstad, T.H., & Engelhardt, H., (2009). The influence of offspring's sex and age at parents' divorce on the intergenerational transmission of divorce, Norwegian first marriages 1980-2003. *Population Studies*, 63, 173-185.
- Låftman and Östberg (2006) The pros and cons of social relations: An analysis of adolescents' health complaints. *Social Science and Medicine* 63(3), 611-623.
- Magnuson, K., & Berger, L.M., (2009). Family structure states and transitions: Associations with children's well-being during middle childhood. *Journal of Marriage Family*, 71, 575-591.
- Manning, W. D., & Brown, S. (2006). Children's economic well-being in married and cohabiting parent families. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 68(2), 345-362.
- Marsiglio, W., Amato, P., Day, R. D., & Lamb, M. E. (2000). Scholarship on fatherhood in the 1990s and beyond. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 62(4), 1173-1191.
- Martin, M.A., (2012). Family structure and the intergenerational transmission of educational advantage. *Social Science Research*, 41, 33-47.
- McLanahan, S., & Bumpass, L. (1988). Intergenerational consequences of family disruption. *American Journal of Sociology*, 94(1), 130-152.
- McLanahan, S. & Percheski, C., (2008). Family structure and the reproduction of inequalities. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *34*, 257-276.
- McLanahan, S., & Sandefur, G. (1994). *Growing up with a single parent what hurts, what helps.* Harvard Press. doi:978-0674364080
- McLanahan, S., Tach, L. & Schneider, D. (2013). The causal effects of father absence. *Annual Review of Sociology* 39: 399-427.
- Menning, C. L. (2006). Nonresident fathering and school failure. *Journal of Family Issues*, 27(10), 1356-1382. doi:10.1177/0192513X06290038

- Monserud, M.A., & Elder, G.H. Jr., (2011). Household structure and children's educational attainment: A perspective on coresidence with grandparents. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 73, 981-1000.
- Mutchler, J.E., & Baker, L.A., (2009). The implications of grandparent coresidence for economic hardship among children in mother-only. *Journal of Family Issues*, *30*, 1567-1597.
- Neoh, J., & Mellor, D. (2010). Shared parenting: Adding children's voices and their measures of adjustment to the evaluation. *Journal of Child Custody*, 7(3), 155-175. doi:10.1080/15379418.2010.512230
- Ní Brohlcháin, M., Chappell, R., Diamond, I., & Jameson, C., (2000). Parental Divorce and Outcomes for Children: Evidence and Interpretation. *European Sociological Review*, 16, 67-91.
- Nielsen, L. (2011). Shared parenting after divorce: A review of shared residential parenting research. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 52(8), 586-609. doi:10.1080/10502556.2011.619913
- Oppelaar, J. & Dykstra, P.A., (2004). Contacts between grandparents and grandchildren. *The Netherlands Journal of Social Sciences*.
- Peters, B., & Ehrenberg, M. F. (2008). The influence of parental separation and divorce on Father–Child relationships. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 49(1-2), 78-109. doi:10.1080/10502550801973005
- Pong, S., Dronkers, J., & Hampden-Thompson, G. (2003). Family policies and children's school achievement in single- versus two-parent families. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 65(3), 681-699. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2003.00681.x
- Price-Bonham, S. & Balswick, J. O. (1980). The noninstitutions: divorce, desertion and remarriage. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 42, 959-972.
- Pryor, J. (2004). Parenting in reconstructed and surrogate families. In M. Hoghughi & N. Long (Eds.), *Handbook of parenting: theory and research for practice*. Londen: Sage publications.
- Pryors, J., & Rodgers, B. (2001). *Children in changing families. life after parental separation* Blackwell Publishers.
- Rasmussen, W. (2009). Family structure changes and Children's health, behavior, and educational outcomes. *YDept. of Economics and CIM, Aarhus School of Business*,
- Reneflot, A., (2009). Childhood family structure and reproductive behaviour in early adulthood in Norway. *European Sociological Review*, 27, 56-69.
- Richardson, J.B. Jr., (2009). Men do matter: ethnographic insights on the socially supportive role of the African American uncle in the lives of inner-city African American male youth. *Journal of Family Issues*, 30,1041-1069.
- Rodgers, K. B., & Rose, H. A. (2002). Risk and resiliency factors among adolescents who experience marital transitions. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 64(4), 1024-1037.
- Sandefur, G. D., & Wells, T. (1999). Does family structure really influence educational attainment? *Social Science Research*, 28(4), 331-357. doi:10.1006/ssre.1999.0648

- Sanz-de-Galdeano, A., & Vuri, D. (2007). Parental divorce and students? performance: Evidence from longitudinal data. *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics*, 69(3), 321-338. doi:10.1111/j.1468-0084.2006.00199.x
- Schmitz, H., & Schmidt-Denter, U., (1999). Die Nachscheidungsfamilie sechs Jahre nach der elterlichen Trennung (The post-divorce family six years after parental divorce). Zeitschrift für Familienforschung ,11, 28-55.
- Seltzer, J. A. (2000). Child support and child access: Experiences of divorced an nonmarital families. . In J. T. Idham & M. S. Melli (Eds.), *Child support: The next frontier*. (pp. 69-87). Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.
- Sigle-Rushton, W., Hobcraft, J., & Kiernan, K. (2005). Parental divorce and subsequent disadvantage: A cross-cohort comparison. *Demography*, 42(3), 427-446. doi:10.1353/dem.2005.0026
- Sigle-Rushton, W., Lyngstad, T.H., Andersen, P.L., & Kravdal, O. (forthcoming). Proceed with caution? Parents' union dissolution and children's educational attainment. Journal of Marriage and Family
- Simons, L. G., & Conger, R. D. (2007). Linking Mother–Father differences in parenting to a typology of family parenting styles and adolescent outcomes. *Journal of Family Issues*, 28(2), 212-241. doi:10.1177/0192513X06294593
- Sirvanli Ozen, D. (2004). The impact of interparental divorce on adult attachment styles and perceived parenting styles of adolescents. *Journal of Divorce and Remarriage*, 40(1/2), 129-149.
- Sodermans, A.K., Bastaits, K., Vanassche, S., Matthijs, K., & Peer, C. van, (2008). The influence of family type and parental conflict on adolescent's attitudes towards marriage and divorce: the role of family integration. Paper presented at the meeting of the European Network for the Sociological and Demographic study of Divorce, Oslo (Norway), 18-19 September 2008.
- Spruijt, E., & Duindam, V. (2009). Joint physical custody in the netherlands and the wellbeing of children. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 51(1), 65-82. doi:10.1080/10502550903423362
- Stamps Mitchell, K., Booth, A., & King V., (2009). Adolescents with nonresident fathers: Are daughters more disadvantaged than sons? *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 71, 650-662.
- Steele, F., Sigle-Rushton, W., & Kravdal, Å. (2009). Consequences of family disruption on children's educational outcomes in Norway. *Demography*, 46(3), 553-574. doi:10.1353/dem.0.0063
- Stewart, S. D. (2003). Nonresident parenting and adolescent adjustment: The quality of nonresident father-child interaction. *Journal of Family Issues*, 24(2), 217-244. doi:10.1177/0192513X02250096
- Strohschein, L. (2005). Parental divorce and child mental health trajectories. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 67(5), 1286-1300. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2005.00217.x
- Strohschein, L. (2007). Challenging the presumption of diminished capacity to parent: Does divorce really change parenting practices? *Family Relations*, *56*(4), 358-368. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3729.2007.00465.x

- Sun, Y., & Li, Y. (2007). Racial and ethnic differences in experiencing parents? marital disruption during late adolescence. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 69(3), 742-762. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2007.00403.x
- Sun, Y., & Li., Y., (2009a). Parental divorce, sibship size, family resources, and children's academic performance. *Social Science Research*, *38*, 622-634.
- Sun, Y., & Li., Y., (2009b). Postdivorce family stability and changes in adolescents academic performance. *Journal of Family Issues*, *30*, 1527-1555.
- Sweeney, M. M. (2007). Stepfather families and the emotional well-being of adolescents. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 48(1), 33-49. doi:10.1177/002214650704800103
- Sweeney, M.M., (2010). Remarriage and stepfamilies: Strategic sites for family scholarship in the 21st century. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 72, 667-684.
- Swiss, L., & Le Bourdais, C., (2009). Father-child contact after separation. *Journal of Family Issues*, 30, 623-652.
- Teachman, J. D. (2002). Childhood living arrangements and the intergenerational transmission of divorce. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 64(3), 717-729.
- Thomson, E., Hanson, T. L., & McLanahan, S. S. (1994). Family structure and child well-being: Economic resources vs. parental behaviors. *Social Forces*, 73(1), 221-242.
- Thomson, E., McLanahan, S. S., & Curtin, R. B. (1992). Family structure, gender, and parental socialization. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, *54*(2), 368-378.
- Thomson, E., Mosley, J., Hanson, T. L., & McLanahan, S. S. (2001). Remarriage, cohabitation, and changes in mothering behavior. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 63(2), 370-380.
- Tillman, K. H. (2007). Family structure pathways and academic disadvantage among adolescents in stepfamilies*. *Sociological Inquiry*, 77(3), 383-424. doi:10.1111/j.1475-682X.2007.00198.x
- Tillman, K. H. (2008). "Non-traditional" siblings and the academic outcomes of adolescents. *Social Science Research*, *37*(1), 88-108. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2007.06.007
- Turunen, J. (2013a). *Stepfamily Dynamics in Sweden: Essays on Family Structure and Children's Well-Being*. Stockholm University Demography Unit Dissertation Series 8. Stockholm: Stockholm University.
- Turunen, J. (2013b). Family structure, Gender and Adolescent emotional Well-Being. Journal of Divorce and Remarriage 54(6): 476-504.
- Uhlendorff, Uwe, Rupp, Marina & Euteneuer (2011). *Wellbeing of Families in Future Europe. Challenges for Research and Policy*. Families in Europe Volume 1. Brussels: FAMILYPLATFORM.
- Waite, E.B., Shanahan, L., Calkins, S.D., Keane, S.P., & O'Brien, M., (2011). Life events, sibling warmth, and youths' adjustment. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 73, 902-912.
- Wolfinger, N. (2005). *Understanding the Divorce Cycle*. Cambridge (MA): Harvard University Press.